CHAPTER FIVE

Plant functional trait identity and diversity effects on soil meso- and macrofauna in an experimental grassland

Rémy Beugnon^{a,b,*}, Katja Steinauer^{a,b,c}, Andrew D. Barnes^{a,b,d}, Anne Ebeling^e, Christiane Roscher^{a,f}, Nico Eisenhauer^{a,b}

^aGerman Centre for Integrative Biodiversity Research (iDiv) Halle-Jena-Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany ^bInstitute of Biology, Leipzig University, Leipzig, Germany

^cDepartment of Terrestrial Ecology, Netherlands Institute of Ecology, Wageningen, The Netherlands ^dSchool of Science, University of Waikato, Hamilton, New Zealand

^eInstitute of Ecology and Evolution, Friedrich Schiller University Jena, Jena, Germany

^fUFZ, Helmholtz Centre for Environmental Research, Physiological Diversity, Leipzig, Germany *Corresponding author: e-mail address: remy.beugnon@idiv.de

Contents

1.	Introduction						
2.	Material and methods						
	2.1	Experimental design	167				
	2.2	Plant community indices	169				
	2.3	Statistical analyses	169				
3.	3. Results						
	3.1 Plant species richness effects						
	3.2	Trait-based models	172				
	3.3	Comparison of plant species richness-based and trait-based models	174				
4.	Discussion						
	4.1 Plant species richness has a weak effect on soil communities						
	4.2	Plant traits as more powerful predictors of soil fauna communities	176				
	4.3	The importance of plant trait identity effects across soil fauna groups	177				
	4.4	Soil fauna responses to spatial resource acquisition traits	178				
	4.5	Soil fauna responses to temporal resource acquisition traits	179				
5.	Conclusions						
Acknowledgements							
References							
Further reading							

Abstract

Understanding aboveground-belowground linkages and their consequences for ecosystem functioning is a major challenge in soil ecology. It is already well established that soil communities drive essential ecosystem processes, such as nutrient cycling, decomposition, or carbon storage. However, knowledge of how plant diversity affects belowground community structure is limited. Such knowledge can be gained from studying the main plant functional traits that modulate plant community effects on soil fauna. Here, we used a grassland experiment manipulating plant species richness and plant functional diversity to explore the effects of community-level plant traits on soil meso- and macrofauna and the trophic structure of soil fauna by differentiating predators and prey. The functional composition of plant communities was described by six plant traits related to spatial and temporal resource use: plant height, leaf area, rooting depth, root length density, growth start, and flowering start. Community-Weighted Means (CWMs), Functional Dissimilarity (FDis), and Functional Richness (FRic) were calculated for each trait. Community-level plant traits better explained variability in soil fauna than did plant species richness. Notably, each soil fauna group was affected by a unique set of plant traits. Moreover, the identity of plant traits (CWM) explained more variance of soil fauna groups than trait diversity. The abundances of soil fauna at the lower trophic levels were better explained by community-level plant traits than higher trophic levels soil fauna groups. Taken together, our results highlight the importance of the identity of different plant functional traits in driving the diversity and trophic structure of soil food communities.

1. Introduction

Over the past decades, ecologists have extensively studied aboveground-belowground linkages (Bardgett and Wardle, 2010) and their effects on ecosystem properties (Wardle et al., 2004). Plants have been identified as a major ecological link between these compartments (Grime, 2001; Wardle et al., 2004), by providing carbon resources and nutrients to both aboveground and belowground consumer communities (Bardgett and Wardle, 2010) that are connected through feeding relationships with plants (e.g. Johnson et al., 2012; McKenzie et al., 2013). Given these aboveground-belowground interactions, it is not surprising that aboveground and belowground diversity were reported to be positively linked (De Deyn and Van Der Putten, 2005; Scherber et al., 2010).

During the last years, it has been highlighted that changes in plant diversity can have significant consequences for the structure and functioning of above- and belowground consumer communities (Ebeling et al., 2018b; Eisenhauer et al., 2013; Giling et al., 2019; Haddad et al., 2009; Hertzog et al., 2017; Hines et al., 2019; Hooper et al., 2000; Meyer et al., 2017; Schuldt et al., 2019). For aboveground consumer communities, recent studies in experimental grasslands have shown that a loss of plant species causes a reduction in the functional richness and composition of herbivores and omnivores (Ebeling et al., 2018a), as well as a shift in food web structure (Giling et al., 2019). Although plant diversity effects on belowground consumer communities have received less attention, the few existing papers reported a positive relationship between plant diversity and soil microbial biomass (Eisenhauer et al., 2010a,b; Lange et al., 2019; Strecker et al., 2016) as well as between abundance and diversity of soil meso- and macrofauna (Eisenhauer et al., 2011a, 2013; Milcu et al., 2013; Scherber et al., 2010). Identifying the underlying mechanisms of these relationships are subject to current research (e.g. Eisenhauer et al., 2019; Mellado-Vázquez et al., 2016).

In the past decade, considerable progress has been made to identify the mechanisms behind plant diversity effects on ecosystem properties using plant functional traits (Diaz and Cabido, 2001; Flynn et al., 2011; Reich et al., 2012). The significance of plant traits for selected ecosystem functions is now well described (Lavorel and Garnier, 2002; Roscher et al., 2012). For instance, early studies found strong effects of leaf traits on net primary productivity (Violle et al., 2007), litter decomposability (Kazakou et al., 2006), and the species richness of aboveground arthropods (Symstad et al., 2000). More recently, research on soil community responses to plant traits has accelerated (e.g. Eisenhauer and Powell, 2017; Laliberté, 2016; Milcu et al., 2013; Steinauer et al., 2017). These studies have provided evidence that functionally and phylogenetically diverse plant communities enhance the density and diversity of soil fauna (Milcu et al., 2013), and that soil microbial communities and associated functions are mainly driven by plant traits related to spatial resource acquisition (Steinauer et al., 2017). These previous findings were related to effects of dominant plant traits on ecosystem properties. Such dominant plant effects were expressed in the 'biomass ratio hypothesis' by Grime (1998), which predicts that effects of specific plant functional traits on ecosystem properties (e.g. soil biota) should be largely determined by the species dominating the biomass of the plant community (Steinauer et al., 2017). Moreover, those first examples highlight the potential that plant traits have for improving our understanding of plant community effects on soil biota (Eisenhauer and Powell, 2017; Laliberté, 2016).

Despite these findings, understanding the effects of specific above- and belowground plant traits on soil communities remains limited. To address this gap in knowledge, we studied the importance of single plant functional traits related to spatial and temporal resource acquisition on soil meso- and macrofauna in the framework of the so-called Trait-Based Biodiversity Experiment (TBE; Ebeling et al., 2014). This experiment manipulates species richness and functional diversity of plant communities based on spatial- and temporal resource acquisition traits in a crossed factorial design (Ebeling et al., 2014). It is therefore suited to calculate trait diversity (here: Functional Richness and Functional Dispersion; Laliberté et al., 2014; Villéger et al., 2008), and the expression of single plant traits at the community level (here: Community Weighted Mean: CWM, Garnier et al., 2004; Lavorel et al., 2008; Fig. S1 in Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004). We sampled soil fauna communities (7796 individuals from 68 morphospecies) on 138 experimental plots, and we grouped individuals either based on their general size class (soil macrofauna and mesofauna), or feeding strategy (predator and prey). For each of these fauna groups, we quantified the abundance and species richness.

We tested the following hypotheses:

Hypothesis 1. Plant species richness and diversity of plant functional traits will positively affect the abundance and species richness of soil fauna communities. Our hypothesis is based on earlier findings of a positive relationship between plant species richness and soil fauna communities (Eisenhauer et al., 2011a; Milcu et al., 2013). Similarly, the diversity of plant traits might increase the diversity of microenvironments and/or resources (e.g. root traits; Hooper et al., 2000; Kuzyakov and Blagodatskaya, 2015; Postma and Lynch, 2012).

Hypothesis 2. A high community-level expression (i.e. high CWM) and diversity of plant traits related to high root productivity are particularly important for the abundance and diversity of soil fauna communities. This hypothesis is based on previous studies showing significant effects of root inputs (Eisenhauer et al., 2017; Kuzyakov and Blagodatskaya, 2015) and root length density on soil microorganisms (Steinauer et al., 2017), and the CWM root length density and rooting depth, that have been shown to be related to the quantity of carbon inputs to decomposers (Bardgett et al., 2014). Also, this hypothesis is in line with the concept of niche complementarity through different resource foraging strategies (Tilman, 1982, 1988), suggesting that the diversity of habitats and resources in soil (i.e. diversity of plant traits) will facilitate the coexistence of a high number of consumer species (Hooper et al., 2000)

Hypothesis 3. The community-level expression (CWM) and diversity of plant traits related to temporal resource acquisition have a strong effect on

shaping soil fauna communities. For example, a plant community containing species differing in their peak growth (i.e. high phenological diversity) might provide resources to the belowground compartment evenly throughout the growing season, thereby supporting diverse soil fauna communities (Kuzyakov and Blagodatskaya, 2015), as well as, increasing community level expression (CWM) of temporal traits may delay species population dynamics in the season. By testing our Hypotheses 2 and 3, we thus sought to identify which community-level plant traits drive soil fauna community composition.

Hypothesis 4. The diversity and expression of certain traits within a plant community have strong effects on consumers at lower trophic levels (herbivores and decomposers), with attenuating bottom-up effects on higher trophic levels (Kaunzinger and Morin, 1998; Scherber et al., 2010). This is in line with a previously shown bottom-up effect of plant diversity on consumers (Eisenhauer et al., 2013; Haddad et al., 2001; Scherber et al., 2010).

2. Material and methods2.1 Experimental design

This study was conducted in the Trait-Based Biodiversity Experiment (TBE; Ebeling et al., 2014) established in 2010 within the framework of a long-term grassland biodiversity experiment (Jena Experiment, Roscher et al., 2014). The experimental site is located in the floodplain of the Saale river close to the city of Jena (Germany; $50^{\circ}55'$ N, $11^{\circ}35'$ E, 130 m a.s.l.). Mean annual air temperature is 9.9° C, and mean annual precipitation is 610 mm (1981-2010; Hoffmann et al., 2014) in the region. Before the establishment of the experiment, the area had been an unfertilized mown grassland for 8 years. In 2010, the previous grassland community was removed and new plant communities were sown on 138 plots ($3.5 \times 3.5 \text{ m}$) to cover a gradient of plant species richness (1, 2, 3, 4, and 8) and plant functional diversity (1, 2, 3, and 4) (see Ebeling et al., 2014).

The functional diversity gradient was formed by the selection of six resource acquisition traits: two aboveground spatial traits [maximum plant height (MH) and leaf area (LA)], two belowground spatial traits [rooting depth (RD) and root length density (RLD)], and two temporal traits [growth start (GS) and flowering start (FS)]. Those traits were analysed by a standardized Principal Component Analysis (PCA) (Ebeling et al., 2014) including all 48 non-legume species of the species pool of the Jena Experiment. The PCA axis 1 spans a gradient of spatial resource acquisition traits,

and the PCA axis 2 displays a gradient of temporal resource acquisition traits. The PCA axes were divided into four sectors, and two species from each sector were selected to create three plant species pools each comprising eight species: species pool 1 covers species along the entire axis 1 with an intermediate position on axis 2; species pool 2 covers species along the entire axis 2 with an intermediate position on axis 1; and species pool 3 is the combination of the extremes of both axes (Ebeling et al., 2014). Plant communities were assembled in order to show a gradient in trait dissimilarity between species according to their assignment to different sectors along the two leading axes of the PCA. The experimental plots were arranged in three blocks accounting for variation in soil properties (see Ebeling et al., 2014).

2.1.1 Soil fauna sampling

In September 2014, i.e., 4 years after establishment of the plant communities, soil cores for soil mesofauna (5 cm deep, 5 cm diameter, Macfadyen, 1961) and soil macrofauna (10 cm deep, 25 cm diameter, Kempson et al., 1963) were sampled, taking one sample per plot for each method. Soil arthropods were extracted by a gradual heating, collected in glycol, and then stored in 70% ethanol until identification. For both mesofauna and macrofauna, we only recorded taxonomic groups that were adequately assessed by these extraction methods. For mesofauna samples, we identified mites (Krantz and Walter, 2009) and collembolans (Hopkin, 2007). For macrofauna samples, we separated chilopods, symphylans, diplopods, hemipterans (Aphidoidea), and beetles (Staphylinidae) (Coleman et al., 2004; Table S1 in Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004). Other taxonomic groups were excluded from analyses, because the method of extraction was considered inappropriate (e.g. for Diptera larvae). All extracted fauna from the target taxonomic groups were assigned to morphospecies based on consistent morphological characteristics. They were further assigned to trophic groups by using information from the literature on their respective taxonomic groups (Coleman et al., 2004; Table S1 in Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004). We defined all lower trophic level consumers (i.e. herbivores and decomposers) as 'prey', and all higher trophic levels as 'predators'.

The dataset contained 121 samples for each meso- and macrofauna as some samples were lost during the extraction procedure.

2.1.2 Plant cover measurement

Plant-specific cover (%) of sown plant species in each plot was estimated by using a decimal scale (modified after Londo, 1976) on the entire plot area $(3.5 \times 3.5 \text{ m})$ in mid-August 2014. The realized plant community composition and species relative abundances were used to calculate abundance-weighted plant community indices (see below).

2.2 Plant community indices

Two indices of plant trait diversity were calculated: Functional Richness (FRic) and Functional Dispersion (FDis) (Fig. S1 in Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06. 004). All calculations were performed for each trait separately, which means that the functional diversity indices only refer to one dimension. In onedimensional space (i.e. one trait), Functional Richness (FRic) is defined as the range between the maximum and minimum of the trait values within the plant community (Villéger et al., 2008), and Functional Dispersion (FDis) is defined as the weighted variance of the trait values within the plant community (Laliberté and Legendre, 2010). These indices have been identified to be more sensitive to processes of community assembly than species richness (Laliberté and Legendre, 2010; Roscher et al., 2014), and they describe trait distributions in two complementary ways: Functional Richness describes the range of trait values within a community, while Functional Dispersion informs on how evenly species trait values are distributed along this range. Further, we calculated CWM of each trait, based on their species-specific cover for each plant community in 2014 (Garnier et al., 2004; Lavorel et al., 2008; Roscher et al., 2012). To avoid differences of too many orders of magnitude between the explanatory variables, they were rescaled based on range to fit between -1 and 1. The calculations were performed with the R package FD (Laliberté et al., 2014).

2.3 Statistical analyses

We used linear mixed-effects models to test the effects of plant species richness on the abundance and species richness of all soil fauna, mesofauna, macrofauna, corresponding subgroups of predators and prey. Species abundance and richness were modelled using a Poisson distribution with observation-level random effects to take in account over-dispersion (Blolker, 2019; Elston et al., 2001). For each model, 'block' was specified as a random effect to account for the spatial arrangement of the plots. Linear mixed-effects models were performed using the 'lme4' package (Bates et al., 2012) within the R statistical environment (R Development Core Team, 2010).

To identify the effect of plant trait-based indices on each soil fauna group, we proceeded in two steps: (1) for each index (CWM, FDis, FRic), we selected a subset of important traits, and (2) we built a full trait-based model composed of the traits selected into the subsets of each index (CWM, FDis, and FRic). (1) Trait selection for each of the three indices describing community-level plant traits (FRic, FDis, and CWM): we employed a model selection approach following Burnham and Anderson (2002) and Grueber et al. (2011). For a given index, we used linear mixed-effect models to test the effect of the six plant traits (growth start, flowering start, leaf area, maximum height, root length density, and rooting depth) on soil fauna groups. All possible combinations of the six plant traits were modelled for each response variable (abundance and species richness) of each fauna group (total fauna, macrofauna, mesofauna, mesofauna predators, mesofauna prey, macrofauna predators, and macrofauna prey). A set of best candidate models was defined by all models with a maximum Δ AICc of 2 compared to the model with the lowest AICc (Bolker et al., 2009; Burnham and Anderson, 2002). For each response variable, we selected all explanatory variables included in the set of best candidate models (Grueber et al., 2011; Nakagawa and Freckleton, 2011). Trait selection was performed using the R package 'MuMIn' (Barton, 2015). (2) Trait-based model: we used linear mixed-effect models to test the effect of all traits previously selected for all indices on each response variable. For both steps and as done in the plant species richness models, species abundances and richness were modelled with a Poisson distribution with observation-level random effects, and 'block' was specified as a random effect. Finally, for each group of soil fauna, we calculated the proportion of total variance explained by the traitbased models using marginal R^2 . R^2 were calculated following Nakagawa and Schielzeth (2013).

To compare plant species richness and trait-based models, we compared the AICc of plants species richness-based model predictions (Eq. 1) or traitbased model predictions (Eq. 2) and the AICc of the model with both plants species richness and trait-based model predictions as explanatory variables:

$$\Delta AICc_1 = AICc(\gamma \sim trait.prediction) - AICc(\gamma \sim trait.prediction + PD) \quad (1)$$

$$\Delta AICc_2 = AICc(\gamma \sim PD) - AICc(\gamma \sim PD + trait.prediction)$$
(2)

where, γ is our response variable, *PD* is the plant species richness, and *trait. prediction* is the prediction of the corresponding trait-based model. We considered the models distinct when $|\Delta AICc| > 2$. If $AICc_1 > 2$, adding plant species richness improved our model predictions, while if $AICc_2 > 2$, adding traits indices improved our model predictions.

3. Results 3.1 Plant species richness effects

Plant species richness did not have any significant effect on neither abundance nor species richness of our studied fauna groups (Fig. 1; Supplementary



Fig. 1 Plant species richness effects on soil fauna abundance and species richness. Circles indicate the estimates of plant species richness effects on the different indices of soil fauna groups with a confidence interval of 95%.

Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004 S1). The variance explained by plant species richness in our model was extremely low (from $R^2 < 0.01$ to $R^2 = 0.016$; Fig. 1; Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004 S1).

3.2 Trait-based models

For each trait index, we selected a subset of the most relevant traits. However, FDis and FRic indices were highly correlated (Pearson's correlation: 0.97 +/-0.01, Fig. S2 in Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004), and the subsets of traits selected were similar (see Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004 S2 and S3A). Given these similarities, we only used the traits selected for FDis to build out trait-based models.

For soil fauna abundance, we observed that the amount of variance explained by our trait-based models differed between groups of soil fauna. More specifically, our models explained only a small fraction of all fauna variability ($R^2 = 0.04$; Fig. 2; Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004 S3B), while size based groups were better explained (macrofauna $R^2 = 0.16$ and mesofauna $R^2 = 0.05$; Fig. 2; Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/ 10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004 S3B). Moreover, the abundance of prey was better explained than that of predators for a given size-based group (macrofauna or mesofauna, Fig. 2). A unique set of explanatory variables was selected for each fauna group (Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004 S3A). For example, both macrofauna and mesofauna abundance models included CWM root length density, maximum height, and growth start, while the model for mesofauna abundance also included CWM flowering start and FDis of all six traits (see Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs. aecr.2019.06.004 S3A and Fig. 2).

Overall, our models revealed that CWM indices had a higher explanatory power than FDis indices. None of the FDis indices had a significant effect on any soil fauna group (Fig. 2; Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004 S3B). Of the CWM indices, two traits had strong effects on soil fauna abundances. First, CWM root length density had a positive effect on macrofauna (estimate = 0.44, *P*-value = 0.04),

Faun	R.s(CMW						siQT						
a group	quared	Root Length Density	Rooting Depth	Leaf Area	Maximun Height	Growth Start	Flowering Start	Root Length Density	Rooting Depth	Leaf Area	Maximun Height	Growth Start	Flowering Start	
All fauna		0					o		ð		0			significant result
Macrofauna		•			o	•					·		•	estimates:
Macrofauna predators		•		0	0		0	o	0		0	٥		-0.5 0 0.5 1
Macrofauna		o	-		0	•	v	o	0	o	٥	o	0	uou
Mesofauna		0	o	0		0	0				o			-significant result:
Mesofauna predators		o		٥		0		o	a	0	0	0	٠	0
Mesofauna brev		•	o	•	o	0	•	8			o			

dance of soil fauna groups. Blue circles denote positive estimates, red circles denote negative estimates and empty circles denote a non-significant relationship (i.e. *P*-value <0.05). Fig. 2 Plant functional trait effects on soil fauna abundance. Circle size and colour indicate the estimates of a given trait effect on the abun-

Fauna Groups

macrofauna predator species (estimate = 0.74, *P*-value = 0.002), and mesofauna prey (estimate = 0.35, *P*-value = 0.05; Fig. 2; Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004 S3B). Second, CWM growth start had a strong negative effect on macrofauna (estimate = -0.74, *P*-value < 0.001) and macrofauna prey (estimate = -0.86, *P*-value = 0.03; Fig. 2; Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004 S3B). The other traits had more inconsistent and weaker effects across fauna groups (e.g. a positive effect of CWM leaf area on mesofauna prey and negative effect of CWM flowering start on mesofauna prey; Fig. 2). Our models did not show any significant trend for species richness of soil fauna groups, although the explained variance was within the same order of magnitude (Fig. S3 in Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004).

3.3 Comparison of plant species richness-based and traitbased models

For abundance of all fauna groups, adding plant species richness to the plant trait-based models did not improve the model ($\Delta AICc_1 \leq 2$; Fig. 3; Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/ bs.aecr.2019.06.004 S4), while adding plant traits to a plant species richness-based model significantly improved the model predictions ($\Delta AICc_2$ from 213 to 45'714; Fig. 3; Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004 S4). These results indicate that variance explained by the plant trait-based model already accounts for the variance explained by plant species richness. By contrast, the plant trait-based model explained a higher proportion of variance than the plant species richness model and was not improved by including plant species richness in the model (Fig. 3). We observed the same for the species richness of soil fauna groups; however, the overall explanatory power of the models was low (Fig. S4 in Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06.004).

4. Discussion

Our results revealed that plant traits play a significant role in structuring soil communities (Hypothesis 1), whereas plant species richness appeared to be of relatively minor importance in the present study. Importantly, we found that different feeding groups (predator and prey) and size classes



Fig. 3 Comparison between plant species richness-based models and trait-based models explaining abundances of soil fauna groups. For each fauna group, a positive variation of AICc (blue line) and a Δ AICc >2 indicate that the information added to the model (i.e. plant species richness—PD—or trait prediction) increased the model prediction.

(meso- and macrofauna) were affected by different sets of community-level plant traits. Taken together, our results indicate that the expression of certain plant traits at the community level governs the structure of soil fauna communities.

4.1 Plant species richness has a weak effect on soil communities

Surprisingly, we found that plant species richness had no significant effect on the abundance and species richness of any soil fauna group (Fig. 1). These results contradict our Hypothesis 1 and findings from previous studies on both aboveground and belowground communities (e.g. Ebeling et al., 2018a; Eisenhauer et al., 2011; Haddad et al., 2009; Milcu et al., 2013; Scherber et al., 2010; Schuldt et al., 2019) that showed positive plant diversity effects on the abundance and diversity of consumers. Moreover, our results are in contrast to the 'More Individuals Hypothesis', which predicts an increase of plant productivity with increasing plant species richness, and consequently an increase of herbivorous and detritivorous species (Srivastava and Lawton, 1998). Non-significant plant diversity effects on soil fauna have been observed before (e.g. Eisenhauer et al., 2009; Milcu et al., 2008), which is possibly explained by the short-term duration of most previous experiments as plant diversity effects need several years to manifest (Eisenhauer et al., 2010a,b, 2012). This is because plant community-specific organic matter gradually accumulates following the establishment of the experimental grassland plots (Habekost et al., 2008), which in turn drives the assembly of specific soil communities (Eisenhauer et al., 2011b). As a consequence, these results should be treated with care as longer-term studies are required to test plant diversity-ecosystem functioning relationships (Cardinale et al., 2007; Reich et al., 2012; Thakur et al., 2015).

4.2 Plant traits as more powerful predictors of soil fauna communities

Although only a small proportion of the variance of soil fauna groups was explained by plant functional traits (max. 16%), they generally explained more variance than plant species richness. In fact, functional traits have often been argued to underlie significant plant diversity effects (e.g. Milcu et al., 2013; Mouillot et al., 2013). Previous research from the Jena Experiment, however, has shown that long-term effects of plant species richness on soil organisms are more important than plant functional group effects (e.g. Eisenhauer et al., 2010a,b, 2011a). Notably, these previous studies used

broad categories of plant functional groups, but did not consider finer gradients in spatial and temporal resource use traits (Ebeling et al., 2014). Moreover, the present study did not include any legumes, which have repeatedly been shown to play a major role for soil communities and processes by fixing nitrogen through their mutualistic relationship with rhizobia (Eisenhauer et al., 2009; Lange et al., 2015; Milcu et al., 2008; Spehn et al., 2000). In addition, it should be noted that species richness of soil fauna was poorly explained by our models, which may be the result of a low variability of species richness within each given fauna group (Table S1 in Supplementary Material in the online version at https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2019.06. 004).

4.3 The importance of plant trait identity effects across soil fauna groups

We observed that our plant trait-based model varied in its explanatory power for soil fauna abundance depending on the fauna group. While only a small fraction of the variance of all soil fauna was explained by the model ($\mathbb{R}^2 = 0.04$), 16% of the variance in soil macrofauna abundance was explained. Moreover, for both macrofauna and mesofauna, explanatory power for prey abundance was always higher than for predators (providing support for our Hypothesis 4). These findings are in line with previously found bottom-up effects of plant community properties on consumer species (see Eisenhauer et al., 2010a,b, 2013; Scherber et al., 2010), whereby the strength of plant community effects decreased with increasing trophic level (Kaunzinger and Morin, 1998; Scherber et al., 2010).

While these results broadly confirm previous findings, our study provides particularly novel insights into how different traits exert significant effects on meso- and macrofauna predators and prey. Thus, our study emphasizes that different facets of plant community traits likely affect soil food web structure (see Schuldt et al., 2019 for aboveground invertebrate food webs) and that some plant community effects on predators may be mediated by variations in their prey populations, while there may be other simultaneous direct effects of vegetation structure. For instance, macrofauna predators were mainly affected by CWM root length density, while macrofauna prey were mainly affected by CWM growth start. In our final plant trait-based model, CWM traits showed stronger effects on soil fauna than plant trait diversity (Fig. 2). These observations suggest that dominant plant trait values are more important than the diversity of plant traits for specific groups of soil fauna. This is in line with the 'biomass ratio hypothesis' (Grime, 1998) that predicts a stronger effect of dominant species within a community. Nevertheless, the finding of dissimilar traits influencing different groups of soil fauna might provide a mechanism underlying the often-observed positive plant diversity effects on soil communities (e.g. Eisenhauer et al., 2013; Scherber et al., 2010).

4.4 Soil fauna responses to spatial resource acquisition traits

Our models highlighted the importance of two spatial resource acquisition traits: root length density and leaf area. These results are in the line with Hypothesis 2-that both CWM and diversity of plant traits related to high root productivity should influence soil community structure—and confirm previous findings for soil microbial communities (Steinauer et al., 2017). Root length density (RLD) affected several fauna groups (Hypothesis 2). In particular, macrofauna predator abundance and mesofauna prey abundance increased with CWM root length density. CWM root length density may be related to an increase of plant-derived carbon inputs to the soil that are available for primary consumers (i.e. herbivores or decomposers; Bardgett et al., 2014). Therefore, we suspect that the effect of CWM root length density on prey abundance and macrofauna predator abundance was due to enhanced belowground plant biomass (Barry et al., 2019; Milcu et al., 2008; Eisenhauer et al., 2010a,b; Scherber et al., 2010). Moreover, macrofauna predators seem to be more related to the response of mesofauna prey to changes in root length density than to that of mesofauna predators. This could be due to the fact that mesofauna predators in the sampled communities of this study were mainly comprised of Gamasina mites, which may preferably feed on nematodes, insect larvae, and Collembola with various degrees of specialization (Koehler, 1999).

The other resource acquisition trait, leaf area (LA), also had a positive effect on mesofauna prey abundance. It has been shown that traits associated with the leaf economic spectrum (e.g. specific leaf area or leaf dry matter content) can be related to soil functioning (e.g. decomposition; Garnier et al., 2004; Lavorel and Garnier, 2002; or, nitrification; Laughlin, 2011). In the species pool of the TBE, grass species tended to have a smaller leaf area than forb species (Ebeling et al., 2014); grass species in the Jena Experiment have a higher leaf dry matter content than forbs (Bachmann et al., 2018), which could explain the relationship of leaf size with the traits of the leaf economics spectrum. Based on these previous findings, it stands

to reason that leaf traits should have indirect effects on soil communities through changes in soil properties and processes, such that increases in soil carbon or nitrification positively influence resources of detritivorous mesofauna.

4.5 Soil fauna responses to temporal resource acquisition traits

An important plant trait for soil fauna identified by our analysis was growth start (GS, Hypothesis 3). We found that a later start of plant growth (i.e. an increase in CWM growth start) had a negative effect on macrofauna abundance and species richness. While it is important to note that our assessment of soil fauna was limited to a single sampling event in early fall (September), variation in temporal plant traits such as growth start may still reliably indicate differences in the productivity of the plant community across the growing season. There are multiple examples from temperate grasslands to tropical forests showing that soil community composition, population dynamics, and plant community effects on soil biota vary over time (e.g. Eisenhauer et al., 2009; Moche et al., 2015). Bearing that in mind, a single snapshot measurement may not be able to clearly determine if temporal plant traits modify soil communities or just shift community dynamics in time. However, the significant effect of temporal plant traits found in this study suggests that multiple assessments of soil communities within and across seasons and years are required to more comprehensively study plant community effects on soil fauna (Berg and Bengtsson, 2007; Eisenhauer et al., 2018; Moche et al., 2015).

5. Conclusions

This study suggests that soil fauna abundance and diversity are better explained by plant trait identity and, to a lesser extent, trait diversity than by plant species richness. However, the effects of plant traits were not always consistent and depended on the soil fauna group in question. Our results further suggest that future studies should take into account multiple root traits (Laliberté, 2016) as well as their plasticity in responses to abiotic and biotic drivers (Eisenhauer and Powell, 2017) to better predict plant community effects on soil biota and functions. This study reveals, for the first time, the importance of temporal plant traits for soil fauna, highlighting the need for repeated assessments that cover the temporal dynamics of communities across different seasons (Dombos et al., 2017; Eisenhauer et al., 2018).

Acknowledgements

We thank Ulrich Pruschitzki, Alfred Lochner, Julia Friese and Josephine Grenzer for their help during sampling and soil fauna extraction processes. We would also like to thank Prof Dr Stefan Scheu for his assistance during soil fauna extraction. We thank the gardeners, technicians, and managers for their work in maintaining the field site and also many student helpers for weeding the experimental plots. Comments by two anonymous reviewers helped us to improve this paper. The Jena Experiment was funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (German Research Foundation; FOR 1451). NE acknowledges funding by the German Research Foundation (Ei 862/3-2). Additional support came from the German Centre for Integrative Biodiversity Research (iDiv) Halle-Jena-Leipzig funded by the German Research Foundation (FZT 118).

References

- Bachmann, D., Roscher, C., Buchmann, N., 2018. How do leaf trait values change spatially and temporally with light availability in a grassland diversity experiment? Oikos 127 (7), 935–948. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.04533.
- Bardgett, R.D., Wardle, D.A., 2010. Aboveground-Belowground Linkages, first ed. Oxford University Press.
- Bardgett, R.D., Mommer, L., De Vries, F.T., 2014. Going underground: root traits as drivers of ecosystem processes. Trends Ecol. Evol. 29 (12), 692–699. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.10.006.
- Barry, K.E., et al., 2019. Above- and belowground overyielding are related at the community and species level in a grassland biodiversity experiment. Adv. Ecol. Res. 61, 55–89.
- Barton, K., 2015. MuMIn: Multi—Model Inference (R package version 1.13. 4). http:// CRAN.R-project.org/package=MuMIn.
- Bates, D., et al., 2012. Package 'lme4'. In: CRAN. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Berg, M.P., Bengtsson, J., 2007. Temporal and spatial variability in soil food web structure. Oikos 116, 1789–1804. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2007.0030-1299.15748.x.
- Blolker, B., 2019. GLMM FAQ. Available at: https://bbolker.github.io/mixedmodels-misc/ glmmFAQ.html#overdispersion.
- Bolker, B.M., et al., 2009. Generalized linear mixed models: a practical guide for ecology and evolution. Trends Ecol. Evol. 24 (3), 127–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree. 2008.10.008.
- Burnham, K.P., Anderson, D.R., 2002. Model Selection and Multimodel Inference—A Practical Information—Theoretic Approach, second ed. Springer-Verlag New York.
- Cardinale, B.J., et al., 2007. Impacts of plant diversity on biomass production increase through time because of species complementarity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104 (46), 18123–18128. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0709069104.
- Coleman, D.C., Crossley, D.A., Hendrix, P.F., 2004. Fundamentals of Soil Ecology, second ed. Academic Press.
- De Deyn, G.B., Van Der Putten, W.H., 2005. Linking aboveground and belowground diversity. Trends Ecol. Evol. 20 (11), 625–633. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree. 2005.08.009.
- Diaz, S., Cabido, M., 2001. Vive la difference: plant functional diversity matters to ecosystem processes: plant functional diversity matters to ecosystem processes. Trends Ecol. Evol. 16 (11), 646–655.
- Dombos, M., et al., 2017. EDAPHOLOG monitoring system: automatic, real-time detection of soil microarthropods. Methods Ecol. Evol. 8, 313–321. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/2041-210X.12662.

- Ebeling, A., et al., 2014. A trait-based experimental approach to understand the mechanisms underlying biodiversity–ecosystem functioning relationships. Basic Appl. Ecol. 15 (3), 229–240. Elsevier GmbH. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2014.02.003.
- Ebeling, A., Rzanny, M., et al., 2018a. Plant diversity induces shifts in the functional structure and diversity across trophic levels. Oikos 127 (2), 208–219. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/oik.04210.
- Ebeling, A., Hines, J., et al., 2018b. Plant diversity effects on arthropoddependent ecosystem functions in a biodiversity experiment. Basic Appl. Ecol. 26, 50–63. Elsevier GmbH. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2017.09.014.
- Eisenhauer, N., Powell, J.R., 2017. Plant trait effects on soil organisms and functions. Pedobiologia 65, 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedobi.2017.11.001.
- Eisenhauer, N., et al., 2009. Impacts of earthworms and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Glomus intraradices) on plant performance are not interrelated. Soil Biol. Biochem. 41 (3), 561–567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2008.12.017.
- Eisenhauer, A.N., et al., 2010. Plant diversity effects on soil microorganisms support the singular hypothesis. Ecology 91 (2), 485–496. Available at http://www.jstor.org/stable/ 25661074.
- Eisenhauer, N., et al., 2011. Plant diversity surpasses plant functional groups and plant productivity as driver of soil biota in the long term. PLoS ONE 6 (1), e16055. Edited by A. Hector. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0016055.
- Eisenhauer, N., Reich, P.B., Scheu, S., 2012. Increasing plant diversity effects on productivity with time due to delayed soil biota effects on plants. Basic Appl. Ecol. 13 (7), 571–578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2012.09.002.
- Eisenhauer, N., et al., 2013. Plant diversity effects on soil food webs are stronger than those of elevated CO2 and N deposition in a long-term grassland experiment. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110, 6889–6894. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1217382110.
- Eisenhauer, N., et al., 2017. Root biomass and exudates link plant diversity with soil bacterial and fungal biomass. Sci. Rep. 7, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep44641Nature Publishing Group.
- Eisenhauer, N., et al., 2018. The dark side of animal phenology. Trends Ecol. Evol. 33 (12), 898–901. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2018.09.010.
- Eisenhauer, N., et al., 2019. A multitrophic perspective on biodiversity-ecosystem functioning research. Adv. Ecol. Res. 61, 1–54.
- Elston, D.A., et al., 2001. Analysis of aggregation, a worked example: numbers of ticks on red grouse chicks. Parasitology 122 (Pt. 5), 563–569. Available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/pubmed/11393830.
- Flynn, D.F.B., et al., 2011. Functional and phylogenetic diversity as predictors of biodiversity—ecosystem-function relationships. Ecology 92 (8), 1573–1581.
- Garnier, E., et al., 2004. Plant functional markers capture ecosystem properties during secondary succession. Ecology 85 (9), 2630–2637.
- Giling, D.P., et al., 2019. Plant diversity alters the representation of motifs in food webs. Nat. Commun. 10 (1), 1226. 2019 10:1. Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-08856-0.
- Grime, J.P., 1998. Benefits of plant diversity to ecosystems: immediate, filter and founder effects. J. Ecol. 86, 902–910.
- Grime, J.P., 2001. Plant Strategies Vegetation Processes and Ecosystem Properties, second ed. Wiley.
- Grueber, C.E., et al., 2011. Multimodel inference in ecology and evolution: challenges and solutions. J. Evol. Biol. 24 (4), 699–711. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1420-9101.2010.02210.x.
- Habekost, M., et al., 2008. Seasonal changes in the soil microbial community in a grassland plant diversity gradient four years after establishment. Soil Biol. Biochem. 40 (10), 2588–2595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2008.06.019.

- Haddad, N.M., et al., 2001. Contrasting effects of plant richness and composition on insect communities: a field experiment contrasting effects of plant richness and composition on insect communities: a field experiment. Am. Nat. 158, 17–35.
- Haddad, N.M., et al., 2009. Plant species loss decreases arthropod diversity and shifts trophic structure. Ecol. Lett. 12, 1029–1039. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248. 2009.01356.x.
- Hertzog, L.R., et al., 2017. Plant diversity increases predation by ground-dwelling invertebrate predators. Ecosphere 8 (11), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1990/full.
- Hines, J., et al., 2019. Mapping change in biodiversity and ecosystem function research: food webs foster integration of experiments and science policy. Adv. Ecol. Res. 61, 297–322.
- Hoffmann, K., et al., 2014. Klimauntersuchungen in Jena für die Anpassung an den Klimawandel und seine erwarteten Folgen. Selbstverlag des Deutschen Wetterdienstes, Offenbach am Main.
- Hooper, D.U., et al., 2000. Interactions between aboveground and belowground biodiversity in terrestrial ecosystems: patterns, mechanisms, and feedbacks. Bioscience 50 (12), 1049–1061.
- Hopkin, S.P., 2007. A Key to the Collembola (Springtails) of Britain and Ireland. Field Studies Council.
- Johnson, S.N., et al., 2012. Aboveground—belowground herbivore interactions: a metaanalysis. Ecology 93 (10), 2208–2215.
- Kaunzinger, C.M.K., Morin, P.J., 1998. Productivity controls food-chain properties in microbial communities. Nature 395, 495–497.
- Kazakou, E., et al., 2006. Co-Variations in Litter Decomposition, Leaf Traits and Plant Growth in Species from a Mediterranean Old-Field Succession. Published by: British Ecological Society Linked references are available on JSTOR for this article: Co-variations in litter decompoFunct. Ecol. 20 (1), 21–30.
- Kempson, D., Lloyd, M., Ghelardi, R., 1963. A new extractor for woodland litter. Pedobiologia 3 (1), 21.
- Koehler, H.H., 1999. Predatory mites (Gamasina, Mesostigmata). Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 74 (1–3), 395–410. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(99)00045-6.
- Krantz, G.W., Walter, D.E., 2009. Manual of Acarology, third ed. Texas Tech University Press.
- Kuzyakov, Y., Blagodatskaya, E., 2015. Microbial hotspots and hot moments in soil: concept & review. Soil Biol. Biochem. 83, 184–199. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.01.025.
- Laliberté, E., 2016. Below-ground frontiers in trait-based plant ecology. New Phytol. 213 (4), 1597–1603. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14247.
- Laliberté, E., Legendre, P., 2010. A distance-based framework for measuring functional diversity from multiple traits. Ecology 91 (1), 299–305. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-2244.1.
- Laliberté, E., Legendre, P., Shipley, B., Laliberté, M.E., 2014. Package 'FD': Measuring functional diversity from multiple traits, and other tools for functional ecology.
- Lange, M., et al., 2015. Plant diversity increases soil microbial activity and soil carbon storage. Nat. Commun. 6, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7707.
- Lange, M., et al., 2019. How plant diversity impacts the coupled water, nutrient and carbon cycles. Adv. Ecol. Res. 61, 185–219.
- Laughlin, D.C., 2011. Nitrification is linked to dominant leaf traits rather than functional diversity. J. Ecol. 99 (5), 1091–1099. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745. 2011.01856.x.
- Lavorel, S., Garnier, E., 2002. Predicting changes in community composition and ecosystem functioning from plant traits: revisiting the holy grail. Funct. Ecol. 16, 545–556.

- Lavorel, S., et al., 2008. Assessing functional diversity in the field—methodology matters!. Funct. Ecol. 22 (1), 134–147. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01339. x071124124908001-???.
- Londo, 1976. The decimal scale for releves of permanent quadrats. Vegetatio 33 (1954), 61–64.
- Macfadyen, A., 1961. Improved funnel-type extractors for soil arthropods. J. Anim. Ecol. 30 (1), 171–184. Available at: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2120 REF.
- McKenzie, S.W., et al., 2013. Reciprocal feeding facilitation between above- and belowground herbivores. Biol. Lett. 9 (5), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2013.0341.
- Mellado-Vázquez, P.G., et al., 2016. Plant diversity generates enhanced soil microbial access to recently photosynthesized carbon in the rhizosphere. Soil Biol. Biochem. 94, 122–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.11.012.
- Meyer, S.T., et al., 2017. Consistent increase in herbivory along two experimental plant diversity gradients over multiple years. Ecosphere 8 (7), 1–19. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/ecs2.1876.
- Milcu, A., et al., 2008. Earthworms and legumes control litter decomposition in a plant diversity gradient. published by: Wiley on behalf of the ecological Society of Amer, Ecology 89 (7), 1872–1882.
- Milcu, A., et al., 2013. Functionally and phylogenetically diverse plant communities key to soil biota. Ecology 94 (8), 1878–1885.
- Moche, M., et al., 2015. Soil biology & biochemistry monthly dynamics of microbial community structure and their controlling factors in three floodplain soils. Soil Biol. Biochem. 90, 169–178. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.07.006.
- Mouillot, D., et al., 2013. A functional approach reveals community responses to disturbances. Trends Ecol. Evol. 28 (3), 167–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2012.10.004.
- Nakagawa, S., Freckleton, R.P., 2011. Model averaging, missing data and multiple imputation: a case study for behavioural ecology. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 65, 103–116.
- Nakagawa, S., Schielzeth, H., 2013. A general and simple method for obtaining R2 from generalized linear mixed-effects models. Methods Ecol. Evol. 4 (2), 133–142. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210x.2012.00261.x.
- Postma, J.A., Lynch, J.P., 2012. Complementarity in root architecture for nutrient uptake in ancient maize/bean and maize/bean/squash polycultures. Ann. Bot. 110, 521–534. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcs082.
- R Development Core Team, R, 2010. A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna.
- Reich, P.B., et al., 2012. Impacts of biodiversity loss escalate through time as redundancy fades. Science 336 (6081), 589–592.
- Roscher, C., et al., 2012. Using plant functional traits to explain diversity–productivity relationships. PLoS ONE 7 (5), e36760. Edited by H. Y. H. Chen. Public Library of Science. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036760.
- Roscher, C., et al., 2014. Different assembly processes drive shifts in species and functional composition in experimental grasslands varying in sown diversity and community history. PLoS One 9 (7), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0101928.
- Scherber, C., et al., 2010. Bottom-up effects of plant diversity on multitrophic interactions in a biodiversity experiment. Nature 469, 553–556. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09492.
- Schuldt, A., et al., 2019. Multiple plant diversity components drive consumer communities across ecosystems. Nat. Commun. 10, 1–11.
- Spehn, E.M., et al., 2000. Plant diversity and soil heterotrophic activity in experimental grassland systems. Plant and Soil 224, 217–230. https://doi.org/10.1023/A.
- Srivastava, D., Lawton, J., 1998. Why more productive sites have more species: an experimental test of theory using tree-hole communities. Am. Nat. 152, 510–529.

- Steinauer, K., et al., 2017. Spatial plant resource acquisition traits explain plant community effects on soil microbial properties. Pedobiologia 65 (February), 50–57. Elsevier. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.pedobi.2017.07.005.
- Strecker, T., et al., 2016. Functional composition of plant communities determines the spatial and temporal stability of soil microbial properties in a long-term plant diversity experiment. Oikos 125 (12), 1743–1754. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.03181.
- Symstad, A.J., Siemann, E., Haarstad, J., 2000. An experimental test of the effect of plant functional group diversity on arthropod diversity. Oikos 89 (2), 243–253. https://doi. org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2000.890204.x.
- Thakur, M.P., et al., 2015. Plant diversity drives soil microbial biomass carbon in grasslands irrespective of global environmental change factors. Glob. Chang. Biol. 21 (11), 4076–4085. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13011.
- Tilman, D., 1982. Resource Competition and Community Structure. In: Monographs in Population Biology. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- Tilman, D., 1988. Dynamics and Structure of Plant Communities. In: Monographs in Population Biology. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- Villéger, S., Mason, N.W.H., Mouillot, D., 2008. New multidimentional functional diversity indices for a multifaceted framework in functional ecology. Ecology 89, 2290–2301.
- Violle, C., et al., 2007. Let the concept of trait be functional!. Oikos 116 (5), 882–892. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2007.15559.x.
- Wardle, D.A., et al., 2004. Ecological linkages between aboveground and belowground biota. Science 304, 1629–1633. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1094875.

Further reading

- Allan, E., et al., 2015. Land use intensification alters ecosystem multifunctionality via loss of biodiversity and changes to functional composition. Ecol. Lett. 18, 834–843. https://doi. org/10.1111/ele.12469.
- Loreau, M., Hector, A., 2001. Partitioning selection and complementarity in biodiversity experiments. Nature 412, 72–76.
- Steinbeiss, S., et al., 2008. Plant diversity positively affects short-term soil carbon storage in experimental grasslands. Glob. Chang. Biol. 14, 2937–2949. 2008. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01697.x.